

Alexa Development with AI Integration

Henrique Nagassima, Hannan Nadeem, Terry Ng, and Shaker Morshed

Westcliff University

TEM 600-Introduction to systems engineering

Professor Eve Thullen

June 23, 2024

Table of Contents

| Alexa Development with AI integration | 5 |
|---|----|
| Team Members | 5 |
| Signature | 7 |
| Concept Development Phase | 9 |
| Project Cost Analysis | 9 |
| Identify Key Stakeholders and System Boundaries | 10 |
| Needs and Requirements Analysis | 12 |
| Originating a New System | 12 |
| Systems Thinking | 12 |
| Operations Analysis | 13 |
| Feasibility Definition | 13 |
| Needs Validation | 13 |
| Requirements Analysis | 13 |
| Developing the System Requirements | 13 |
| Requirements Development and Sources | 14 |
| Requirements Features and Attributes | 14 |
| Requirements Development Process | 14 |
| Requirements Hierarchy | 15 |
| Functional Requirements | 15 |
| Evaluation and Selection | 17 |
| Alternatives Analysis | 17 |
| Operations Research Techniques | 17 |
| Economics and Affordability | 18 |
| System Architectures | 18 |
| Types of Architecture | 18 |

| Architecture Frameworks | 19 |
|---|----|
| Architecture Development | 19 |
| Decision Analysis and Support | 20 |
| Decision Making | 20 |
| Modeling | 21 |
| Trade-Off Analysis | 22 |
| Risk Management | 22 |
| Risk Identification and Risk Analysis | 23 |
| Engineering Development Phase | 24 |
| Engineering Design | 24 |
| Requirements Analysis | 25 |
| Functional Analysis and Design | 26 |
| Component Design | 26 |
| Design Validation | 27 |
| Configuration Management | 27 |
| Systems Integration | 27 |
| Integrating the Total System | 27 |
| System Integration Hierarchy | 28 |
| Types of Integration | 28 |
| Integration Planning | 29 |
| Integration Facilities | 29 |
| Test and Evaluation | 29 |
| Testing and Evaluating the Total System and developmental testing | 30 |
| Operational Test and Evaluation | 30 |
| Human Factors Testing | 31 |
| Test Planning and Preparation | 31 |
| Test Traceability | 31 |

| Post-Development Phase | |
|---|----|
| Production | 33 |
| Systems Engineering in the Factory | 33 |
| Engineering for Production | 33 |
| Transition from Development to Production | 34 |
| Production Operations | 34 |
| Acquiring a Production Knowledge Base | 34 |
| Operation and Support | 35 |
| Installing, Maintaining, and Upgrading the System | 35 |
| Installation and Test | 36 |
| In-Service Support | 37 |
| Major System Upgrades: Modernization | 38 |
| Operational Factors in System Development | 38 |
| Conclusion | 40 |
| Contribution Table | 46 |

Alexa Development with AI integration

Integrating AI into Alexa requires a deep understanding of the Alexa ecosystem, including components like natural language understanding, intent recognition, and response generation. Systems engineering provides a framework to consider interoperability, scalability, and reliability during this integration process. When applying systems engineering, developers outline the system's specifications. This involves choosing the appropriate AI services and technologies, along with creating interfaces for smooth integration. Feedback loops are also established to ensure ongoing development.

By following these steps, developers can create AI-enabled Alexa skills that leverage AI's capabilities effectively. These skills can provide perceptive responses and adapt to user requirements, ultimately improving the efficacy of voice interactions and the overall user experience. This paper discusses such implementations through three phases of system engineering including the concept development phase, the engineering development phase, and the post-development phase.

Team Members

To ensure the project's success, four individuals with diverse backgrounds have been recruited to form the system engineering project team. Each member is responsible for different aspects of the project, and they will collaborate closely to achieve the project's goals. All team members possess project management skills, allowing for a flat hierarchical structure and eliminating the need for a separate project manager. Listed below are the team members' names, roles, and specific responsibilities.

Terry Ng – Material Solutions Analysis

- Quality test: Stress tests the device mechanically and electrically and determines the failure mode to prevent future failures. This includes failure analysis of devices failing in the field.
- Research and Development: Define the current need for material and develop new materials from polymer, metal, ceramics, and composites while keeping them on budget, on time, and within scope.
- Material selections: Picks the best materials to be integrated in the system while meeting the product requirements, including aesthetics, feel, regulations, sustainability, and end use environments.

Henrique Nagassima – Technology Development

- Marketplace trends: Analyze current market trends and researches the community in order to identify current and future opportunities.
- Capability Analysis: able the capabilities of the enterprise in a holistic view
- Analysis of technology improvements: Researches new and existing technology and their impact on the existing system.

Hannan Nadeem - Engineering & manufacturing development / Production & deployment

- Systems integration planning: Considers existing infrastructure, hardware requirements and compatibility with third party services
- Manufacturing process optimization: Implement automation solutions and improve quality control measures
- Deployment strategy development: Define strategies for deploying to end users and clients. Coordinates with stakeholders to plan rollout. Manages inventory levels and offers maintenance and customer support.

Shaker Morshed – Operations and Support

- Continuous Integration and Deployment (CI/CD): Implement CI/CD pipelines to automate the testing and deployment of new AI models and Alexa skills. This ensures that updates are systematically validated and deployed, reducing downtime and improving the reliability of the service.
- Monitoring and Analytics: Utilize monitoring tools to track the performance and usage of Alexa skills. Analyze interactions to understand user behavior and preferences, which can inform improvements and new feature development.
- User Feedback Loop: Establishes a mechanism for collecting and analyzing user feedback. This can be done through direct surveys within the skill or by analyzing user reviews. This feedback can then be used to refine AI models and enhance the user experience.
- AI Model Management: Manage the lifecycle of AI models, including versioning, A/B testing, and performance tracking. Ensure that the models are up-to-date and optimized for current user needs and interaction patterns.
- Technical Support and Documentation: Provide comprehensive documentation and technical support for developers and end-users. This includes troubleshooting guides, FAQs, and forums for community support, which can help resolve issues quickly and efficiently (Yoshitake, 2023).

These operations and support strategies are essential for maintaining a robust and user-centric Alexa service integrated with AI. They help in delivering a seamless experience that continuously adapts and improves over time.

Signature

| Henrique Nagassima | 06/22/2024 |
|----------------------------|------------|
| Hannan Nadeem | 06/22/2024 |
| Shaker Abdullah Al Morshed | 06/22/2024 |
| Terry Ng | 06/22/2024 |

Concept Development Phase

Once this project gets approved to move on to the next step, it is critical to have a concept development phase. There are two steps that take place during the concept development phase: 1) evaluating the feasibility of the project and 2) defining the stakeholders, project scope, and deliverables (MDoIT, nd). In the following section, the paper will explore key topics including stakeholder and system boundaries, need and requirement analysis, evaluation and selection, decision analysis and support, and risk management.

Project Cost Analysis

The project cost is determined using a bottom-up approach by building the work breakdown structure (WBS). Table 1 summarizes the project costs based on the WBS. The costs include both the time and effort required for the project, accounting for the human hourly cost with the assumption of \$150/hour for the team members' hourly cost as a whole.

Table 1

| Project Phase | Cost Estimation | Estimated Hours | Cost Estimation | |
|---------------------|--|-----------------|-----------------|--|
| | Identify Key Stakeholders and System Boundaries | 100 | \$15,000 | |
| | Needs and Requirements Analysis | 120 | \$18,000 | |
| | Requirements Analysis | 80 | \$12,000 | |
| Concept Development | Functional Requirements | 90 | \$13,500 | |
| Phase | Evaluation and Selection | 100 | \$15,000 | |

Project Cost Analysis

| | System Architectures | 110 | \$16,500 |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----|-----------|
| | Decision Analysis and Support | 70 | \$10,500 |
| | Risk Management* | 60 | \$9,000 |
| | Engineering Design | 150 | \$22,500 |
| Engineering Development Phase | Systems Integration | 130 | \$19,500 |
| | Test and Evaluation | 140 | \$21,000 |
| Post-Development Phase | Production | 160 | \$24,000 |
| | Operation and Support | 180 | \$27,000 |
| Total Cost | | | \$223,500 |

During risk assessment, several risks were identified that require mitigation plans, each necessitating a portion of the budget. Typically, a contingency budget ranges from 5-10% of the total project cost (Opijnen, 2023). Given that the integration of AI into Alexa involves numerous unknowns and that consumers are risk sensitive, the system engineering project team has decided to allocate an additional 10% to the budget for contingency funds. This ensures that any unforeseen challenges can be effectively mitigated without compromising the project timeline or scope. Based on the estimation of \$223,500, the contingency budget of 10% is \$22,305. The final cost for the project is estimated to be \$245,850.

Identify Key Stakeholders and System Boundaries

The stakeholders in this project include Amazon's Alexa development team, third-party skill developers, end-users, and data privacy experts. The system boundaries are defined by the

capabilities of Alexa's AI, such as voice recognition, smart home device integration, and user data handling.

Figure 1

Project Stakeholders



Consider the development of a new Alexa skill that uses AI to suggest additional slot values for developers, enhancing the skill creation process. Stakeholders would be the developers using the tool, the Amazon team maintaining the AI system, and the end-users interacting with the new skills. The system boundaries might include the AI's language model, the database of existing slot values, and the user interface through which developers interact with the tool.

Figure 2

Project Boundaries

Project Boundaries



Needs and Requirements Analysis

To create precise system requirements, this stage entails comprehending the unique demands of the stakeholders. This would include assessing the requirements for enhanced natural language comprehension, tailored user interactions, and smooth connection with smart home appliances for an AI-integrated Alexa.

Originating a New System

The first step in launching a new system, like combining AI with Alexa, is to identify a need or an opportunity. During this phase, the problem must be defined, stakeholder demands must be understood, and system objectives must be set in line with business objectives.

Systems Thinking

This all-encompassing strategy necessitates considering the hardware, software, users, and operating environment as well as other components of the Alexa AI system. The interdependence of these components and how they enhance the system's overall efficacy are highlighted by systems thinking.

Operations Analysis

In this phase, the current operations of Alexa are scrutinized to identify areas where AI can bring improvements. This involves analyzing workflows, user interactions, and system performance to ensure that the integration of AI will meet the desired enhancements.

Feasibility Definition

Feasibility assessment is crucial to determine whether the Alexa AI project is viable. It includes evaluating technical feasibility, cost-benefit analysis, risk assessment, and compliance with legal and regulatory standards.

Needs Validation

The final step is to validate that the system requirements truly reflect the stakeholders' needs. This involves reviewing the requirements, testing them against real-world scenarios, and ensuring they are complete, consistent, and testable.

Requirements Analysis

Developing the System Requirements

This step involves establishing clear and concise system requirements for the Alexa AI integration. It requires a deep understanding of the end goals and the technical capabilities

needed to achieve them. The requirements should be specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time-bound (SMART).

Requirements Development and Sources

The development of requirements should draw from a variety of sources, including stakeholder interviews, market research, and technological trends. This ensures that the requirements are comprehensive and reflect the needs of all parties involved.

Requirements Features and Attributes

Each requirement should have well-defined features and attributes that describe what the system must do and the qualities it must have. This includes performance criteria, operational conditions, and constraints.

Requirements Development Process

The process for developing requirements should be iterative, allowing for continuous refinement and clarification. This can involve creating use cases, scenarios, and models to validate the requirements.

Figure 3

Concept Exploration Phase Flow Diagram



Requirements Hierarchy

Requirements should be organized in a hierarchical structure, from high-level user needs down to detailed system specifications. This helps in managing complexity and ensuring that all requirements are addressed (Andrew, William, Samuel, & Steven, 2020).

Functional Requirements

Voice recognition and processing

Specify the level of precision needed for Alexa to understand and respond to user commands, considering different speech patterns and accents. Demonstrate how Alexa's integrated microphones and algorithms are essential for efficiently removing background noise and maintaining clear voice recognition in a variety of settings.

Natural language understanding

Establish the standards necessary for Alexa to correctly recognize and comprehend user intents. Use AI models to interpret a broad variety of requests. Describe what is needed for Alexa to respond in a logical and pertinent manner while preserving the context of the conversation throughout many exchanges

Response generation and delivery

To guarantee a seamless user experience, set expectations for the longest amount of time Alexa can take to process requests and provide answers. Specify how multimodal feedback will be provided by Alexa, including audio cues, visual displays on Echo Show devices, and possibly even haptic feedback on future devices.

Integration with external AI services

Describe the requirements needed for Alexa to work seamlessly with different AI services, including third-party APIs and cloud-based machine learning models. Emphasize the steps taken, such as encryption and anonymization, to guarantee the safe and private management of user data while interacting with other services (Kossiakoff, et al. 2020, Malan & Bredemeyer, 2001, & Holtmann, et al. 2015).

Some other functional requirements that the team can touch on are listed below.

- User personalization and profiles
- Skill and application integration

- User interface and interaction design
- Performance and scalability
- Security and compliance
- Maintenance and updates

Evaluation and Selection

Alternatives Analysis

Consideration must be given to designing strategies that strike a compromise between performance, cost, and schedule restrictions when integrating intelligence into home technologies such as Alexa. This integration involves smart home hubs, AI-powered energy management systems, AI-enhanced security systems, and assistants.

Although using language improves the usability and accessibility of assistants like Amazon Alexa, it also raises privacy issues. Numerous devices can be controlled with the help of gadgets like Samsung SmartThings, which may involve more upfront expenses and levels of complexity.

On the other side, real-time warnings and sophisticated danger detection capabilities are offered by AI-driven security systems like Nest Cam IQ. can be expensive initially as well as in the long run. Even though precise user input is required and requires investment in functionality, AI-based (Maria, 2023)

Operations Research Techniques

A facet of integrating AI with home technology is the use of operations research (OR) methodologies to optimize design decisions and allocate resources effectively, hence improving system efficiency and effectiveness. AI integration situations can be investigated through the use of methods including decision analysis, simulation modeling, and linear programming.

While maintaining high performance requirements, linear programming allows for the optimization of resource use and cost effectiveness. Through the evaluation of AI technologies according to parameters such as cost, utility, and compatibility, decision analysis helps decision making.

Before implementing AI integration solutions, simulation modeling enables testing them in real-world settings to forecast results and fix problems. Through the application of OR techniques, engineers can methodically investigate all available possibilities, surmount obstacles, and finally create AI-integrated systems. (Shavali & Akhila, 2022)

Economics and Affordability

Purchasing these devices can increase home safety, lower utility costs, and increase the value of a home for homeowners. However, because better functions come with additional payments, some prospective customers could be hesitant. A detailed economic analysis that directs businesses and consumers toward AI solutions will determine its value based on affordability. Depending on its features and effectiveness, smart home technology might reduce energy costs by 2% to 9%, according to LOTNOW. AI system integration may help find problems and result in additional energy savings. (Magda Dabrowska, 2024)

System Architectures

Types of Architecture

Three architectural components are needed to integrate artificial intelligence (AI) into home technology: functional, physical, and the allocated architecture. By allocating resources and duties among subsystems, the allocated architecture aims to maximize processing power and data flow. It describes how artificial intelligence (AI) algorithms work with household appliances and sensors to improve productivity and reaction times. The framework for integrating AI is formed by hardware elements like memory, processors, and network connectivity, which make up the physical architecture. With this configuration, real-time data processing and decision-making are made possible by connectivity between AI-enabled devices and the central processing unit.

Functional architecture, on the other hand, outlines the rules that control the functions and behaviors of the AI system in a domestic setting. It outlines the interfaces, protocols, and algorithms needed to support AI-driven tasks including security monitoring, smart home automation, and energy management. Together, these architectural components create an intelligent home environment that improves the comfort, efficiency, and safety of its occupants.

Architecture Frameworks

This configuration often consists of several levels, such as action, processing, analysis, and data gathering. Its primary responsibility is to collect data from embedded sensors and devices in the home. After that, this data is evaluated and interpreted by AI algorithms to produce forecasts and insights.

The system takes judgments to automate chores, improve energy efficiency, increase security measures, and improve resident convenience based on these findings. This architecture's framework guarantees communication between the AI and infrastructure components, facilitating intelligent decision-making and adaptive actions catered to the unique requirements of each household. (Dale seed, 2021)

Architecture Development

The first step in this approach is identifying the needs and goals for integrating AI, such as energy management, home automation, and security monitoring. Designers then list the parts and subsystems required to enable these characteristics, considering things like processing, gathering, decision-making, and data analysis. They also consider issues like security, scalability, and compatibility with other systems in order to guarantee the design's dependability. Through a succession of design iterations, testing phases, and enhancements, designers hone the architecture to create a responsive home environment that improves user comfort, efficiency, and safety. (Kossiakoff et al., 2020)

Decision Analysis and Support

During the life cycle of the implementation of AI in Alexa, it is necessary to develop a system for decision making to guide the system engineers when decisions are to be made. This is especially critical given the complexity of the project and the amount of uncertainty that comes with every decision. This section is focused on creating an outline for the engineers to make well evaluated decisions (Hazelrigg, 2012).

Decision Making

During a decision making process, the amount of time, energy, and resources required for each decision can be different. In a complex product like Alexa, a simplified decision process shown in Figure 4 comes a long way for decision making, simple or complex. On a high-level overview, a few factors need to be considered during this process: 1) understanding the goals and objectives of stakeholders, 2) decision type, 3) decision context, 4) stakeholders, 5) legacy decisions, and 6) supporting data (Kossiakoff, 2020).

Figure 4

Decision Making Process



Since the key stakeholders for Alexa include the team providing and maintaining the AI, consumers, and Amazon's investors (Chi and Chen, 2020). The goal for Alexa is to have consumers continue to use it, so that people will continue to buy this product and buy services through the device. Furthermore, the decisions are divided into various types to understand if a simple binary decision of yes or no needs to be made or if a complex make-or-buy decision needs to be made and how they affect the stakeholders. These decisions can be categorized into different contexts such as financial, technical, process, temporal, or legacy. The specific decision can then be made based on the following information: decision time frame, available resources, problem scope, uncertainty, and stakeholder objectives and values. Once this information is defined, a model can be built to predict the outcome of the possible alternative choices available.

Modeling

There are multiple models that can be chosen from when making decisions. The three main categories include schematic, mathematical, and physical models. Schematic models for

example can use a decision tree to determine what type of natural language processing algorithm to use. A flow chart can also be used to help design how the AI interacts with the users. A mathematical model can utilize a multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) to make decisions when multiple criteria need to be considered together to rank or choose between alternatives (1000minds, nd). Criteria when implementing AI include cost, scalability, compatibility of existing products, and performance metrics such as accuracy of speech or recognition. Finally, physical modeling is used for prototyping and testing Alexa in the physical world.

Trade-Off Analysis

Once the modeling is complete, the product needs to go through a vigorous evaluation and trade-off analysis. The main purpose of the trade-off analysis is to determine most viable options. For example, this may be useful in choosing the chip used on Alexa to aid compatibility with AI. Alternatives need to be generated to facilitate this comparison and decisions can be made. For example, Alexa has considered Nvidia and Amazon's Inferentia chips. Nvidia has been the leader in its field with good experience and usability; however, Inferentia was created to manage machine learning in Alexa, generating 25% lower end-to-end latency and 30% lower cost compared to Nvidia (Schwartz, 2020).

Risk Management

Risk management is the process of identifying, evaluating, and controlling threats that a project may see (Tucci, 2023). By doing these simple steps, the end goal is to steer a course that poses minimum risks while achieving maximum results (Kossiakoff, 2020). As the program develops, the uncertainty associated with the system reduces, and the risk reduces consequentially. This is why initial planning on risk management is critical for project success.

Risk Identification and Risk Analysis

Amazon is a customer-centric company that focuses on delivering a product that customers are satisfied with (Amazon, nd). In the system development for Alexa with implementation with AI, the project team is going to take a bottom-up approach to identify the threats so that the product can address risks during the development of the product to minimize those risks. The project team brainstorms some of the risks and categorizes them so they can be managed by different owners or teams. The categories include financial, social, environmental, operational, legal, security, technical, ethical, legal, performance, and more (CFI Team, nd). The team is also going to draw on the experience of past generations of Alexa when implementing the new product.

Once the risks are identified, each risk is associated with the probability of occurring and the impact of the risks. By multiplying the two values, each risk can be ranked from the most urgent that needs to be dealt with to the least urgent ones. Finally, the risk can be further determined by the action, including avoidance, mitigation, transfer, or acceptance. Table 2 shows a few examples of such a system.

Table 2

| Risk ID | Description | Category | Probability | Impact | Strategies |
|---------|-----------------------------|-----------|-------------|--------|--|
| 001 | Accurate speech recognition | Technical | High | High | Mitigate: Develop a continuous improvement |
| 002 | Data breach | Security | Medium | High | Transfer: Hire data security team to manage data security |

Risk Analysis Table

| 003 | Integration issue with an existing device | Compatibili ty | Low | Medium | Mitigate: Develop and test compatibility across different devices |
|-----|---|--------------------|--------|--------|---|
| 004 | Underestimate the resources and cost required | Financial | Medium | Medium | Transfer: Outsource some of the aspects of the project with a fixed-price contract |
| 005 | Legal and regulatory compliance | Legal | Low | High | Transfer: Hire a consulting firm with a strong legal and regulatory |
| 006 | User resistance to adopting new feature | User Acceptance | Medium | Medium | Accept: Slowly introduce the feature before releasing |

Engineering Development Phase

The project is then moved on to the next stage of engineering development, to translate the concept drafted in the previous phase into a validated physical system to meet the requirements drafted. The phase includes engineering design to design all the components so they will fit together, integration to assemble and integrate engineered components as a whole, and testing and evaluation to ensure the system is tested to standard (Claudio, nd).

Engineering Design

Engineering design is the first step in the engineering development phase. In this phase, Alexa and AI as two components are both developed, and all these components are to be fully materialized. The four main steps include requirements analysis, functional analysis and design, component design, and design validation as shown in Figure 5.

Figure 5

Engineering Design Phase Flow Diagram



Requirements Analysis

The primary focus of this requirements analysis is to identify and refine the requirements for the enhanced AI functionalities in Alexa to ensure consistency and completeness. The existing system requirements are revisited to ensure they remain consistent but prioritize understanding the new functionalities introduced by the AI engine.

The functional requirements include natural language understanding, dialogue management, reasoning and decision making. Alexa must achieve accuracy with various user queries while understanding the context. Alexa must also be capable of understanding the history

and exchange of conversation. Finally, AI must be able to draw conclusions that require reasoning and decision-making.

Non-functional requirements include how Alexa with AI should perform. This includes the usability, reliability, and efficiency of AI tools. The AI has a specific target for response time within 5 seconds with 95% accuracy. Data security must protect user data privacy and be protected from cyber threats (Altex Soft, 2023).

Functional Analysis and Design

After all the external interface requirements are identified, the component interactions are analyzed and the design, integration, and test issues are identified. The three important areas are identified as modular configuration, software design, and user interfaces. The modular configuration ensures that the interaction of system components and the environment is simplified. A few components for modular configuration include a speech recognition module and a natural language understanding engine. Each module is separated to implement upgrades individually. On the software side, the language model algorithm needs to be optimized with the machine learning software with maintenance. Finally, the user interface is also developed for the in-app interaction experience with Alexa. This is especially important when using Alexa functionality when creating a list or linking Alexa with other streaming applications on the phone.

Component Design

The next step is to implement the functional designs of system elements as engineered hardware and software components with compatible and testable interfaces. This is critical to design so that the AI component of speech recognition and natural language understanding comes together with the physical components of Alexa's carrier device. A preliminary design is outlined to test if the AI integration conforms to system performance and design specifications within the constraints of cost and schedule. Once the preliminary design review is done, a detailed design is created including plans, specifications, drawings, and other documentation.

Design Validation

The final step is the design validation, which develops test cases to validate the functional, performance, and robustness of the AI system. Development testing is done to validate the basic design of components, focusing on their performance in isolation. Qualification testing is done with some performance testing under various conditions with high user load or network latency to ensure Alexa is responsive to the users.

Configuration Management

Finally, configuration management is designed to maintain the continuity and integrity of Alexa with AI integration with two baselines, configuration items and configuration baselines. Changes made need to have a visible control system to understand what has been changed to fix certain problems. The proper documentation aids the thought process when certain features are applied due to certain failures and can help the team not remove certain functionality in the future.

Systems Integration

Integrating the Total System

The process of bringing together different subsystems or components into a single system to ensure they work as a unit is known as system integration. To create a smooth user experience, the AI integration with Alexa entails mixing AI components, such as machine learning algorithms and natural language comprehension, with the Alexa system. The key steps include integrating Alexa with AI features including machine learning, speech recognition, and natural language processing. Create interfaces, such as data sharing protocols and APIs, to facilitate communication between Alexa and AI components. Employ middleware to control how subsystems communicate with one another and guarantee synchronization and consistency of data (Kossiakoff, 2020).

System Integration Hierarchy

To handle complexity and provide comprehensive testing at every stage, the integration process can be approached in a hierarchical manner. Individual AI parts, such as particular algorithms or data processing modules, are integrated and functionally evaluated at the unit level. Related parts are merged into subsystems at the subsystem level. For example, the speech recognition and natural language understanding modules are part of the AI engine subsystem. Ultimately, every subsystem is included in the final Alexa system at the system level, guaranteeing that every component functions as a whole (Keating, et al. 2003).

Types of Integration

A cohesive system can be achieved by utilizing a variety of integration mechanisms. Big Bang Integration, which is quicker but more dangerous because it may be challenging to isolate problems, integrates every component at once following unit testing. By integrating components incrementally, risk is decreased, and the likelihood of finding and fixing problems early is increased. Incremental integration also permits testing and troubleshooting at every level. Throughout the development process, continuous integration entails testing and integration on an ongoing basis to guarantee that the system is always operational and to aid in the early identification of integration problems (Madni, A. M., & Sievers, M. (2014).

Integration Planning

Planning for effective integration is essential to the project's success. It is necessary to create an integration plan that details the steps, resources, and timeline for integrating Alexa's AI components. To monitor development and guarantee timely completion, each integration phase should have clear deliverables and key milestones. To handle problems that can come up throughout the integration process, it is also important to identify potential risks and implement mitigation techniques.

Integration Facilities

To ensure an organized and efficient integration process, suitable facilities must be established for integration testing. To guarantee realistic testing conditions, a test environment that closely resembles the production environment should be put up. Effective integration testing requires the use of the right tools and equipment, including simulation software, performance monitoring systems, and debugging tools. It's also critical to make sure that team members participating in the integration process communicate and collaborate effectively. To keep everyone in sync and quickly resolve any problems, regular meetings and status reports are helpful (Sage, A. P., & Lynch, C. L, 1998)

Test and Evaluation

Testing and evaluation are critical to ensuring that the integrated system meets the required standards and performs as expected. Functional, performance, and security testing should all be done as part of a thorough integration testing process to ensure that all the parts operate flawlessly together. End users should be included in User Acceptance Testing (UAT) to make sure the integrated system fulfills their needs and offers a positive user experience. To ensure that the system continues to be dependable and effective throughout time, continuous

monitoring should be put into place to identify and resolve any potential problems that may surface after deployment.

Testing and Evaluating the Total System and developmental testing

This section of the approach is important to ensure the best functionality, satisfaction and security of the products. First, components such as AI-powered voice assistants or thermostats are tested to make sure they function as intended. Subsequent integration testing ensures seamless communication and compatibility by examining how these components function within the network of smart home devices. User acceptability testing is essential because it uses real-world scenarios to assess usability, responsiveness, and general user satisfaction. Because linked devices increase the potential for cyber threats, security testing is also a top responsibility. This entails doing penetration testing to find and fix vulnerabilities as well as risk assessment. To stay ahead of risks and technological breakthroughs, constant testing and monitoring are essential. These meticulous testing methods contribute to the delivery of safe and efficient AI-integrated home products that are useful for users. (Eyal, 2018)

Operational Test and Evaluation

On the other hand, operational testing focuses on the performance and reliability of these systems in real world scenarios. Based on the integration with the Alexa products associated with the Alexa interface, would allow the integration of AI functionality into their products. This integration will only impact the host product (Alexa) and connected devices will operate as before with Alexa commands. AI can assist Alexa and create new features associated with several commands depending on commonly saved scenarios. Lastly, the user interface can benefit based on the AI understanding of its function. This can help the user understand the

necessary training and functions of the system to have its full functionality. (Kossiakoff, A, et al. 2020)

Human Factors Testing

After development and testing with the software and its functionality, human testing would be simulated based on the interaction developed by humans with Alexa. Voice recognition and the understanding of speech are crucial for the efforts and its functionality in the correct section of the Amazon Alexa. Recognition of speech will be associated with language and voice recognition by the user. Initial voice demos will be administered to understand the volume tone and speech recognition for the user with Alexa. If any words are not recognized AI will automatically fill those gaps with a reasonable replacement to complete the command.

Test Planning and Preparation

Ensuring that these contemporary systems function well, are safe, and are simple to use is a necessary step in the planning and preparation for integrating AI into home technology. Setting objectives and defining the testing parameters are the first steps in determining which AIconnected devices, such as voice assistants, security cameras, and thermostats, require evaluation and what features they should offer. The next step is an analysis to collect performance metrics and requirements from all parties involved, ensuring that all crucial parameters are accurately recorded. (Test Sigma Engineering Team, May 2024)

Test Traceability

To verify that the system satisfies all requirements, the procedure makes sure that every section is linked to a test case. The first step in the process is to create a traceability pattern that connects each specification requirement to the corresponding test cases and results. This link guarantees that all functions are covered and aids in monitoring the testing process. By keeping

this connection up to date, testers may quickly see which tests verify criteria, which makes it simpler to identify any areas that have been neglected or not examined. Effect analysis relies on traceability to help teams quickly assess how modifications to requirements or system updates may affect test cases that are already in place. Lastly with the traceability of the test further improvements and obstacles can be traced and overcome. (Kossiakoff, A, et al. 2020)

Post-Development Phase

The post-development phase is the last part of the system engineering phase where system engineers bridge development to production. This is done by bringing the whole system development process that has been engineered and tested in the previous stage to production. Furthermore, operation and support are developed to help the project be self-sustainable and continuously optimized (Claudio, nd; Kossiakoff, 2020).

Production

Here's an overview of the production implementation plan and prototype plan for the project "Alexa Development with AI integration" during the Engineering Development Phase:

Systems Engineering in the Factory

Systems engineering in a factory setting involves the integration of various subsystems to ensure that the entire manufacturing process operates smoothly. It requires a comprehensive understanding of the workflow, machinery, and human factors involved. For the Alexa Development project, this would mean ensuring that the AI components are seamlessly integrated into the existing production lines. The prototype plan should include testing of subsystems and integration points to validate the overall system design before full-scale production.

Engineering for Production

Engineering for production focuses on designing systems that are not only functional but also manufacturable at scale. This includes considerations for material selection, costeffectiveness, and ease of assembly (Gershwin, 2016). For Alexa development, the engineering team would need to work closely with production specialists to ensure that the AI integration does not complicate the manufacturing process. Prototyping in this context would involve creating several iterations to refine the design for mass production.

Transition from Development to Production

The transition from development to production is a critical phase where the design is finalized, and the manufacturing process is scaled up. It involves rigorous testing to ensure that the product meets quality standards and is ready for market release. For the Alexa development project, the transition plan should detail the steps for ramping up production while maintaining quality control and addressing any potential risks.

Production Operations

Production operations encompass the day-to-day activities required to manufacture products. This includes scheduling, inventory management, quality control, and maintenance. For Alexa development, the operations plan should outline how the AI integration affects these daily activities and what new processes or training might be required for staff. The prototype phase would likely involve a pilot run to test these operational changes (Luther, 2022).

Acquiring a Production Knowledge Base

Acquiring a production knowledge base means gathering and organizing information that can improve the production process. For Alexa Development, this could involve compiling data on AI integration techniques, machine learning algorithms, and best practices for quality assurance. The prototype plan should include a knowledge management system that allows for the collection and dissemination of this information to all stakeholders involved in the production (GSC, 2019).

These plans should be developed with input from all relevant departments to ensure a smooth transition from the prototype to full-scale production. It's also important to document each phase thoroughly to provide a reference for future projects and continuous improvement initiatives.

Operation and Support

For this project, the operation and support phases are essential for ensuring the system's reliability and efficiency. Below is a detailed plan with examples and references:

Installing, Maintaining, and Upgrading the System

Installation: The system should be installed following a structured process that includes preinstallation checks, configuration, and verification.

Maintenance: Regular maintenance schedules should be documented to ensure the system's optimal performance.

Upgrading: A clear upgrade path should be established, detailing the steps and checks required for a successful system upgrade.

Figure 6

4 Concepts of Operations Management



Installation and Test

Installation: A flowchart should be created to visualize the installation process, identifying key steps and decision points.

Testing: The testing phase should include a checklist of tests to be performed post-installation to ensure the system is functioning correctly.

Figure 7





In-Service Support

Support Blueprint: A service blueprint should be developed to outline the support process, including customer touchpoints and backend processes.

Example: For instance, a diagram could illustrate the process flow from customer request to resolution, including the roles of support staff and automated systems.

Major System Upgrades: Modernization

Modernization Plan: Document the steps for major system upgrades, including the assessment of current systems, identification of areas for improvement, and the integration of new technologies.

Example: An example could involve upgrading the system's AI capabilities to improve user interaction and system responsiveness.

Operational Factors in System Development

Operational Analysis: A comprehensive analysis should be conducted to understand the operational factors affecting system development, such as user requirements, system environment, and performance metrics.

Figure 8

System Development Lifecycle



Example: A SysML diagram could be used to represent the interaction between different system components and operational processes.

Figure 9

Components in Operations Management



These plans should be accompanied by detailed documentation and examples to guide the implementation and support of the system throughout its lifecycle. Monitoring plans should also be established to track system performance and user feedback, ensuring continuous improvement (KateEby, 2017).

Conclusion

The addition of AI to Alexa signifies a substantial development in the realm of smart home technologies. The project has carefully handled all stages of development, from concept conception to post-development operations, employing the principles of systems engineering. The comprehensive strategy made sure that functional and non-functional requirements were thoroughly documented, risk management techniques were successfully applied, and stakeholder demands were recognized and validated.

The feasibility of the project and precise description of stakeholder roles and system boundaries were established during the idea development phase. The next stage of technical development was on turning these ideas into concrete solutions, with a focus on strong AI functionalities, modular setups, and smooth integration with current systems. The project made sure that each element fulfilled the highest possible standards of performance and dependability through stringent testing and validation procedures.

The focus on operational support and ongoing development as the project moves into production highlights the commitment to sustaining the system's effectiveness and customer satisfaction. The meticulous planning that goes into installation, upkeep, and significant upgrades guarantees that the AI-powered Alexa system will continue to be flexible and strong even as user demands and technology progress.

Finally, this project demonstrates the successful use of systems engineering to construct a sophisticated, AI-integrated Alexa system that increases user interaction, efficiency, and establishes a new benchmark for smart home technology. The team has not only accomplished the project's objectives by adhering to a systematic and iterative development process, but they

have also cleared the path for further advancements in the domain of intelligent home automation.

References

- 1000 Minds. (no date). Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA/MCDM). 1000 minds. <u>https://www.1000minds.com/decision-making/what-is-mcdm-mcda</u>
- Altexsoft. (Nov. 29, 2023). Functional and Nonfunctional Requirements: Specification and

Types. Alex Soft. https://www.altexsoft.com/blog/functional-and-non-functional-

requirements-specification-and-types/

- Amazon. (no date). About Amazon. Amazon. https://www.aboutamazon.com/about-us/
- CFI Team. (no date). Risk. Corporate Finance Institute. <u>https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/</u> resources/career-map/sell-side/risk-management/risk/
- Chi, W. and Chen, Y., 2020. Employee satisfaction and the cost of corporate borrowing. Finance Research Letters, p.101666.
- Claudio, A. (No date). Systems Engineering Overview. Recinto Unversitario de Mayaguez. <u>https://ece.uprm.edu/~icom5047/documents/</u> Systems%20Engineering%20Ovw_UPRM.pdf
- Dale Seed. (March 22, 2021) An Architectural Framework for End-to-End IoT Systems. <u>https://</u> <u>www.architectureandgovernance.com/app-tech/an-architectural-framework-for-end-to-end-iot-systems/</u>
- Diaz, M. (November 2nd, 2023). How AI in smart home tech can automate your life,<u>https://</u> www.zdnet.com/article/how-ai-in-smart-home-tech-can-automate-your-life/
- Eyal Elazar, April 23, 2018. User acceptance testing (UAT) process explained, <u>https://www.panaya.com/blog/testing/what-is-uat-testing/</u>.

Gershwin, S. B. (2016, Novemeber 25). Manufacturing Systems Overview. Retrieved from MIT: <u>https://ocw.mit.edu/courses/2-854-introduction-to-manufacturing-systems-</u> fall-2016/9b9b97f88c693390a2562dd7ecfa5a5c_MIT2_854F16_Introduction.pdf

- GSC. (2019, July 18). Knowledge Based Engineering: Knowledge Acquisition & The Acquisition Tool. Retrieved from GSC: <u>https://www.gsc-3d.com/blog/knowledge-basedengineering-knowledge-acquisition-the-acquisition-tool/</u>
- Hazelrigg, G. (Jan. 1, 2012). Fundamentals of Decision making for Engineers. Neils Corp. https://engineeringdecisionmaking.com/
- Holtmann, J., Bernijazov, R., Meyer, M., Schmelter, D., & Tschirner, C. (2015, August).
 Integrated systems engineering and software requirements engineering for technical systems. In Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Software and System Process (pp. 57-66).
- KateEby. (2017, June 27). The Ultimate Guide to Understanding and Using a System Development Life Cycle. Retrieved from smartsheet: <u>https://www.smartsheet.com/</u> <u>system-development-life-cycle-guide</u>
- Keating, C., Rogers, R., Unal, R., Dryer, D., Sousa-Poza, A., Safford, R., ... & Rabadi, G. (2003).System of systems engineering. Engineering Management Journal, 15(3), 36-45.

Kossiakoff, A, et al. (2020). System engineering principles and practices, Pg246-248. Wiley.

- Luther, D. (2022, February 10). Manufacturing Operations Management: Strategies and Best Practices to Do It Well. Retrieved from NetSuit: <u>https://www.netsuite.com/portal/</u> <u>resource/articles/inventory-management/manufacturing-operations.shtml</u>
- Madni, A. M., & Sievers, M. (2014). System of systems integration: Key considerations and challenges. Systems Engineering, 17(3), 330-347.

- Magna Dabrowska (April 22, 2024) Smart home technology saves money and helps protect the planet, <u>https://www.iot-now.com/2024/04/22/144080-smart-home-technology-saves-money-and-helps-protect-the-planet/</u>
- Malan, R., & Bredemeyer, D. (2001). Functional requirements and use cases. Bredemeyer Consulting, 335-1653.

Maryland DoIT. (no date). SDLC Phase 02 Concept Development Phase Single. Maryland Government. <u>https://doit.maryland.gov/SDLC/Documents/</u> <u>SDLC%20Phase%2002%20Concept%20Development%20Phase%20Single%20Custom.</u> <u>pdf</u>

- Opijnen, E. (Mar. 28, 2023). What Is a Contingency Budget for Project Management? Rodeo Drive. <u>https://www.getrodeo.io/blog/contingency-budget-for-project-management</u>
- Sage, A. P., & Lynch, C. L. (1998). Systems integration and architecting: An overview of principles, practices, and perspectives. Systems Engineering: The Journal of The International Council on Systems Engineering, 1(3), 176-227.
- Schwartz, E. (Nov. 13, 2020). Alexa Moves Most Operations to Amazon-Built Chip to Boost Speed and Efficiency. Voicebot Ai. <u>https://voicebot.ai/2020/11/13/alexa-moves-most-operations-to-amazon-built-chip-to-boost-speed-and-efficiency/</u>
- Sengled (January 3rd, 2024) 10 Smart Home Trends to Watch on 2024, <u>https://us.sengled.com/</u> blogs/blog/10-smart-home-trends-2024
- Test Sigma engineering Team, May 7, 2024, How to create a test plan for software testing? https://testsigma.com/blog/test-plan/

- Tucci, L. (Sept. 2023). What is risk management and why is it important? Tech Target. <u>https://www.techtarget.com/searchsecurity/definition/What-is-risk-management-and-why-is-it-important</u>
- V.Shavali & E. Akhila (October 31st, 2022). Home Automation & Its Detection for Performing and Operation for Reducing Power, Indiana Publications. <u>https://</u>

indianapublications.com/articles/IJMR 2(4) 26-31 63c5cdec5b6a69.46713434.pdf

Contribution Table

| Team Member | Effort | | |
|--------------------|--|--|--|
| Hannan Nadeem | Introduction, Conclusion, Systems Integration, Evaluation and Selection, System Architectures | | |
| Henrique Nagassima | Test and Evaluation, Needs and Requirements Analysis, Requirements Analysis, and Functional Requirements | | |
| Shaker Morshed | Production, Operation and Support, Identify Key Stakeholders and System Boundaries | | |
| Terry Ng | Introduction of each phase, Reference formatting and organization, General formatting, Team Effort Chart, Cost Analysis Engineering Design,Decision Analysis and Support, and Risk Management | | |